
OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP BOARD 

7275 West Main Street 
Kalamazoo, MI 49009 

September 26, 2023 

Refer to page 3 for Virtual Meeting Information 

REGULAR MEETING 
5:30 P.M. 
AGENDA 

1. Call to Order
2. Remote Location Identification (for remote attendance when permitted by statute)

WORK SESSION ITEMS 
3. Discussion on 2024 Annual Budget (Ongoing)
4. Discussion of 2024 Township Millage Rates
5. Other Updates & Business

BREAK (Time Permitting) – 7:05 P.M. 

REGULAR SESSION ITEMS – 7:15 P.M. 
6. Pledge of Allegiance
7. Township Mission/Vision/Core Values
8. Public Comment on Non-Regular Session Items
9. Consent Agenda

a. Minutes of Regular Meeting September 12, 2023
b. Board & Committee Appointments (KATS Policy, HARC)
c. Second Reading: Small Cell Wireless Communication Facilities Deployment 5g

Ordinance
d. Second Reading: Wireless Telecommunication Facilities 5g Ordinance
e. KL Avenue Professional Services Contract Revision

10. Presentation of Township-Wide Survey by Cobalt Community Research
11. First Reading: Solar Energy Systems Ordinance
12. First Reading: Height Standards for Single-Family & Two-Family Dwellings: Sections

2.20 Definitions, 42.30 Development Standards and 50.30 Residential Dwelling
Standards

13. Consideration of Human Resources Information System
14. Consideration of 9th Street Non-Motorized Right-of-Way Agent Authorization
15. Public Hearing: Consideration to Adopt Resolution of Intent to Establish Fire and Safety

Protection SAD No. 2.
16. Budget Amendments
17. Consideration of L-4029 Township Property Tax Rates
18. Consideration of Police SAD 09 and 04
19. Consideration of Fire SAD No. 1 and SAD No. 2
20. Public Comment
21. Board Member Comments and Committee Updates
22. Adjournment

1



Oshtemo Township Board of Trustees 

Supervisor 

Cheri Bell 
Clerk 

Dusty Farmer 

Treasurer 

Clare Buszka 

Trustees 

Neil Sikora

Kristin Cole 

Zak Ford 

Kizzy Bradford 

216-5220 cbell@oshtemo.org

216-5224 dfarmer@oshtemo.org 

216-5260 cbuszka@oshtemo.org 

760-6769
375-4260

271-5513

375-4260

kcole@oshtemo.org 

zford@oshtemo.org 

kbradford@oshtemo.org 

Township Department Information 

Assessor: 

Kristine Biddle 

Fire Chief: 

Greg McComb 

Ordinance Enforcement: 

Rick Suwarsky 

Parks Director: 

Vanessa Street
Rental Info 

Planning Director: 

Iris Lubbert 

Public Works Director: 

Anna Horner 

216-5225 assessor@oshtemo.org 

375-0487 gmccomb@oshtemo.org 

216-5227 rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org 

216-5233 
216-5224 

vstreet@oshtemo.org
oshtemo@oshtemo.org 

216-5223 ilubbert@oshtemo.org 

216-5228 ahorner@oshtemo.org 

Policy for Public Comment 
Township Board Regular Meetings, Planning Commission & ZBA Meetings 

All public comment shall be received during one of the following portions of the Agenda of an open meeting: 

a. Citizen Comment on Non-Agenda Items or Public Comment – while this is not intended to be a forum for

dialogue and/or debate, if a citizen inquiry can be answered succinctly and briefly, it will be addressed or it may

be delegated to the appropriate Township Official or staff member to respond at a later date. More complicated

questions can be answered during Township business hours through web contact, phone calls, email

(oshtemo@oshtemo.org), walk-in visits, or by appointment.

b. After an agenda item is presented by staff and/or an applicant, public comment will be invited. At the close of
public comment there will be Board discussion prior to call for a motion. While comments that include questions
are important, depending on the nature of the question, whether it can be answered without further research,
and the relevance to the agenda item at hand, the questions may not be discussed during the Board deliberation
which follows.

Anyone wishing to make a comment will be asked to come to the podium to facilitate the audio/visual 
capabilities of the meeting room. Speakers will be invited to provide their name, but it is not required. 

All public comment offered during public hearings shall be directed, and relevant, to the item of business on 
which the public hearing is being conducted. Comment during the Public Comment Non-Agenda Items may be 
directed to any issue. 

All public comment shall be limited to four (4) minutes in duration unless special permission has been granted in 
advance by the Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting. 

Public comment shall not be repetitive, slanderous, abusive, threatening, boisterous, or contrary to the orderly 
conduct of business. The Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting shall terminate any public comment which 
does not follow these guidelines. 

(adopted 5/9/2000) 
(revised 5/14/2013) 
(revised 1/8/2018) 

Questions and concerns are welcome outside of public meetings during Township Office hours through phone calls, 
stopping in at the front desk, by email, and by appointment. The customer service counter is open from Monday- 
Thursday, 8 a.m.-1 p.m. and 2-5 p.m., and on Friday, 8 a.m.–1 p.m. Additionally, questions and concerns are 
accepted at all hours through the website contact form found at www.oshtemo.org, email, postal service, and 
voicemail. Staff and elected official contact information is provided below. If you do not have a specific person to 
contact, please direct your inquiry to oshtemo@oshtemo.org and it will be directed to the appropriate person. 

 nsikora@oshtemo.org

2

mailto:libbyhc@oshtemo.org
mailto:dfarmer@oshtemo.org
mailto:cbuszka@oshtemo.org
mailto:cbell@oshtemo.org
mailto:kcole@oshtemo.org
mailto:zford@oshtemo.org
mailto:kbradford@oshtemo.org
mailto:assessor@oshtemo.org
mailto:gmccomb@oshtemo.org
mailto:rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org
mailto:khigh@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
mailto:ilubbert@oshtemo.org
mailto:ahorner@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
http://www.oshtemo.org/
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org


Zoom Instructions for Participants 

Before a videoconference: 

1. You will need a computer, tablet, or smartphone with a speaker or headphones. You will have
the opportunity to check your audio immediately upon joining a meeting.

2. If you are going to make a public comment, please use a microphone or headphones with a
microphone to cut down on feedback, if possible.

3. Details, phone numbers, and links to videoconference or conference call are provided below.
The details include a link to “Join via computer” as well as phone numbers for a conference call
option. It will also include the 11-digit Meeting ID.

To join the videoconference: 

1. At the start time of the meeting, click on this link to join via computer. You may be
instructed to download the Zoom application.

2. You have an opportunity to test your audio at this point by clicking on “Test Computer Audio.”
Once you are satisfied that your audio works, click on “Join audio by computer.”

You may also join a meeting without the link by going to join.zoom.us on any browser and entering this 
Meeting ID: 856 6068 9723 

If you are having trouble hearing the meeting or do not have the ability to join using a computer, tablet, or 
smartphone then you can join via conference call by following instructions below. 

To join the conference by phone: 
1. On your phone, dial the teleconferencing number: 1-929-205-6099
2. When prompted using your touchtone (DTMF) keypad, enter the Meeting ID number:

856 6068 9723#

Participant controls in the lower-left corner of the Zoom screen: 

Using the icons at the bottom of the Zoom screen, you can (some features will be locked to participants during 
the meeting): 

• Participants – opens a pop-out screen that includes a “Raise Hand” icon that you may use to
raise a virtual hand. This will be used to indicate that you want to make a public comment.

• Chat – opens pop-up screen that allows participants to post comments during the
meeting.

If you are attending the meeting by phone, to use the “Raise Hand” feature press *9 on your 
touchtone keypad. 

Public comments will be handled by the “Raise Hand” method as instructed above within Participant Controls. 

Closed Caption: 

Turn on Closed Caption: 
Using the icons at the bottom of the Zoom screen: 

1. Click on the “Live Transcription” button.
2. Then select “Show Subtitle”.

3

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85660689723
https://join.zoom.us/


Mission: 

To advance the quality of life of all residents through a commitment to responsible growth, and 

value-driven municipal services that promote the relationships among economic vitality, 

environmental stewardship, and social equity. 

Vision: 

A sustainable and innovative community built through a legacy of planned, responsible growth 

and rural preservation. 

Core Values: 

PUBLIC SERVICE 

• Fair treatment to all people.

• Each customer is welcomed and that their input is wanted.

• Difficult questions are not marginalized.

• Allow residents to interact directly with the township staff and officials.

• Decisions are made based on the value to our Township and residents.

SUSTAINABILITY 

• Meet the needs of the present without compromising future generations.

o Consider the environment through practices that reduce impacts.

o Value conscious decision making.

o Committing to quality Fire and Police protection.

INNOVATION 
• Providing the best value-conscious technology currently available.

• Leverage new technologies and ways of doing business to increase accessibility and

improve services. 

PROFESSIONALISM 

• Hire staff with strong core competencies within their given profession.

• Commitment to continuous improvement to government operations.

• Dedicated to open communication to improve productivity and effectiveness.

INTEGRITY 

• Decisions are made logically through the collection of evidence, facts, and public input.

• When promises are made, we follow through.

• We do not obfuscate – we say what we mean and do what we say.

• Transparent governmental practices are of the highest priority.

FISCAL STEWARDSHIP 

• Ensure that taxpayer investments are spent wisely, effectively and efficiently.

4



OSHTEMO BOARDS (formal) *Bold Font Indicates Proposed Changes.  Others are Elected or Continuing Effective September 22, 2023

TITLE MEMBERS DATES TERM END DATE

Board of Review Fred Gould March, July, & December 12.31.2024

Two Year Term, Start Jan 1, Odd Years Kitty Gelling 12.31.2024

Contact: Kristine Biddle, kbiddle@oshtemo.org Harry Jachym 12.31.2024

Wiley Boulding (Alternate) 12.31.2024

VACANT (At-Large) 12.31.2024

Cheri Bell (Supervisor)

Kristine Biddle (Staff) 

CCTA (Public Transit) Dusty Farmer

Corridor Improvement Authority (SoDA) Kizzy Bradford (Resident of SoDA Area) June & December, noon 12.31.2023

5 to 9 members Joe Gesmundo ( AVB Developer) 12.31.2024

Majority with ownership or bus int Dale Deleeuw (County Rep) (appointed by County per agreemnt) 12.31.2024

At least 1 resident (w/in 1/2 mile) Corey Ashley (Grp. Mktg. Svcs., Business Rep) 12.31.2025

Four year term staggered terms Kelly Bringman (Nottingham Apts. Mgr) 12.31.2025

Contact: Iris Lubbert, ilubbert@oshtemo.org Dennis Patzer, At Large (School Admin) 12.31.2026

Theresa Spurr (Spurr Dental) 12.31.2026

Open (Cheri Jodoin applied; prev. served)

Cheri Bell (TB Liason)

Iris Lubbert (Staff)

Dangerous Building Hearing Officer Dave Breytone Supervisor appointment

Downtown Development Authority (DDA) Stephen Dallas (Interest) 3rd Thurs, every other 12.31.2025

9-13 Members VACANT (At Large) month, starting Jan, 3 pm 12.31.2025

Majority with ownership or bus int Dick Skalski (At Large) 12.31.2024

At least 1 resident (w/in 1/2 mile) Ryan Winfield (Resident/Interest) 12.31.2024

Four year term staggered terms Themi Corakis (Interest) 12.31.2023

Contact: Iris Lubbert, ilubbert@oshtemo.org Rich MacDonald (Interest) 12.31.2023

Tom Sowell (KPL Rep; Interest) 12.31.2026

Bill Cekola (Interest) 12.31.2026

Cheri Bell (Twp Supervisor) 

Iris Lubbert (Staff)

Environmental Board Chad Hughson As needed 12.31.2023

Three Year Terms Steve Malcolm 12.31.2025

Contact: Dusty Farmer, dfarmer@oshtemo.org Neil Sikora  (Trustee) 12.31.2024

5



OSHTEMO BOARDS (formal) *Bold Font Indicates Proposed Changes.  Others are Elected or Continuing Effective September 22, 2023

TITLE MEMBERS DATES TERM END DATE

Oshtemo Election Commission Dusty Farmer (Clerk) As needed 12.8.2020 to 11.20.2024

Contact: Dusty Farmer, dfarmer@oshtemo.org Clare Buszka (Treasurer)

Zak Ford (TB Liason)

Friends of the Parks Bruce Dannenhauer, Treasurer (Resident) Monthly, 3rd Tuesday, 4 pm 12.31.2023

Two Year Term Neil Sikora (Trustee) 12.31.2023 Partial

Contact: Vanessa Street, vstreet@oshtemo.org Vanessa Street (Staff)

Dennis Patzer, President (Retired) 12.31.2023

Deb Everett, Secretary (Resident) 12.31.2024

David Walch (Resident,Engineer) 12.31.2024

Kathy Fretz (Resident Retired) 12.31.2024

Cheri Bell (TB Liason) 12.31.2024

Joint Boards Meetings Township Board 3rd Tuesday, 6 pm, Twice Annually
Contact: Iris Lubbert, ilubbert@oshtemo.org Zoning Board of Appeals

DDA & SoDA 
Friends of the Parks 
Planning Commission
Iris Lubbert (Staff)

SMBA (Southwest Michigan Building Authority) Cheri Bell (Supervisor)
 Supervisor, or other Board Member Dusty Farmer (Clerk)

KATS Policy (Kalamazoo Area Cheri Bell (Primary) Monthly, last Wed, 9 am 
         Transportation Study (2 votes) Clare Buszka (Alternate)

KATS Technical (2 votes) Iris Lubbert or Colten Hutson (Planning Staff) Monthly, 2nd Thursday, 9 am
Anna Horner or Zach Pearson (Public Works Staff)

Kalamazoo Regional Water Cheri Bell (TB/Primary)
 & Wastewater Commission (KRWWC) Neil Sikora (TB/Alternate)

Contact: Rich Pierson, rp5343@yahoo.com VACANT
(269) 998-4587 Jim Porter (Staff Attorney)

Planning Commission Alistair Smith 2nd & 4th Thursday, 6 pm 12.31.2023 1st term
Three Year Term Micki Maxwell (& any special meetings) 12.31.2023 2nd term
Contact: Iris Lubbert, ilubbert@oshtemo.org Scott Makohn 12.31.2024 Partial

Deb Everett 12.31.2024 Partial
Phil Doorlag 12.31.2025 1st term

Scot Jefferies 12.31.2025 1st term
Zak Ford (TB Liason) 12.31.2023 Partial
Iris Lubbert (Staff)

6



OSHTEMO BOARDS (formal) *Bold Font Indicates Proposed Changes.  Others are Elected or Continuing Effective September 22, 2023

TITLE MEMBERS DATES TERM END DATE

Jim Porter (Staff Attorney) 

Public Media Network Lisa Godfrey (Citizen Rep)
Clare Buszka  (Board Rep) 

Township Board Cheri Bell (Supervisor)

Dusty Farmer (Clerk)

Clare Buszka (Treasurer)

Kizzy Bradford (Trustee)

Neil Sikora (Trustee)

Zak Ford (Trustee)

Kristin Cole (Trustee)

Jim Porter (Staff Attorney) 

Anna Horner (Public Works Director)

Zoning Board of Appeals Louis Williams (Resident) 4th Tues, 3 pm 12.31.2024 1st term

Three Year Terms Fred Gould (Resident) 12.31.2025 1st Term; Partial

Contact: Iris Lubbert, ilubbert@oshtemo.org Anita Smith (Vice Chair) 12.31.2023 1st Term

Harry Jachym (1st Alternate) 12.31.2025 Partial

Rick Everett (2nd Alternate) 12.31.2024 Partial 

Al Smith (PC Liason) 

Dusty Farmer (TB Liason)

Iris Lubbert (Staff)

Jim Porter (Staff Attorney) 

Utility Policy Committee (UPC) Libby Heiny-Cogswell (Chair)

Marc Elliott (Alternate)

Appointment through the KRWWC Jeff Sorensen (Regional Chair)

7



 OSHTEMO AD HOC COMMITTEES of the Board and informal representation for other area organizations

*Bold Font Indicates Proposed Changes. Others are Continuing

Effective September 22, 2023

TITLE MEMBERS DATES TERM END DATES

Board & Committee Cheri Bell (TB) As needed 

 Appointments Dusty Farmer (TB)
Clare Buszka (TB)

Buildings and Grounds Cheri Bell (TB) Quarterly @ 8:00 a.m.  July/October

Dusty Farmer (TB)

Carl Benson (Resident)

Rick Everett (Resident) 

Greg McComb (Staff)
Greg Fountain (Staff)

Capital Improvement (CIC) Zak Ford (TB) Quarterly, Jan, Apr, July, Oct

Cheri Bell (TB)  3rd Tues. @ 1pm 

Clare Buszka (TB)

Tim Mallett (Resident)

Ken Hudok (Resident)

Bernie Mein (Resident/retired builder)

Anna Horner (Staff)
Zach Pierson (Staff) 

Fred Gould (BOR) 12/31/2024

Neil Sikora  (TB)

Jeff Parsons (Resident-at-large)

Clare Buszka (TB Treasurer) TermofOffice

Cheri Bell (TB Supervisor) TermofOffice

Records Management Dusty Farmer, Chair (Clerk)

Anna Horner (Staff)

Greg McComb (Fire Chief)

Kerri Tyler (Staff) 

HARC (Hardship Advisory Review 

Committee); 3 year, staggered terms

1 8



 OSHTEMO AD HOC COMMITTEES of the Board and informal representation for other area organizations

*Bold Font Indicates Proposed Changes. Others are Continuing

Effective September 22, 2023

TITLE MEMBERS DATES TERM END DATES

Jon Gibson (Staff) 

Iris Lubbert (Staff) As Needed
Cheri Bell (TB; Ex Officio) As needed

IT Committee VACANT (Resident)

Marc Elliott (Staff) 

Scott Fuller (Staff) 
Jon Gibson (Staff) 

"Legislative Breakfast" Open to Entire Board Quarterly

 (Southwest Michigan First/Chamber) 8am - 9am
Kalamazoo Brownfield Authority Iris Lubbert (Staff) 4th Thursday of each Month @ 3:00pm

Kalamazoo County Transit Authority Dusty Farmer (Township Representative) 2nd & 4th Monday, 5:30 p.m.

HR (Human Resources) Cheri Bell (TB, Personnel Director) As Needed
Board Work Group Clare Buszka (TB)

Dusty Farmer
Sara Fiester (HR)

Parks Cheri Bell (TB) 3rd Wednesday @ 4 p.m.

VACANT

Zak Ford (TB) 

Deb Everett (Resident) 

Neil Sikora  (TB)
Vanessa Street (Staff)

Police Cheri Bell (TB) Quarterly as needed

Kristin Cole (TB)  

Zak Ford (TB) 

Greg McComb (Staff)

Jack Shepperly (Staff Police Specialist) 

Louis Parker III (Resident) 

2 9



 OSHTEMO AD HOC COMMITTEES of the Board and informal representation for other area organizations

*Bold Font Indicates Proposed Changes. Others are Continuing

Effective September 22, 2023

TITLE MEMBERS DATES TERM END DATES

Malcolm Blair (Resident) 

Jim Taylor (Resident)

Deb Everett (Resident) 
Jim Porter (Staff Attorney) 

Safety Greg McComb (Staff) As needed 

Sara Feister, Safety Coordinator (Staff)

Rod Rought (Staff)

Greg Fountain (Staff)

Jon Gibson (Staff)

Kyle Gibson (SMBA, tenant) 
Cheri Bell (TB, Ex Officio) 

Sunshine Sally Higgins (Staff)

Linda Potok (Staff)

Clare Buszka (Treasurer) 

Sara Feister (Staff)

Sierra Lucas (Staff)

Wellhead Protection Team  Iris Lubbert/Colten Hutson (Staff) Quarterly (approx) 

Fire Department Strategic Planning Cheri Bell (TB) 
Committee Zak Ford  (TB) 

Established 7.2022 Erin Phillips (Fire Dept Administrative Asst)

Fire Staff (As needed)

Deb Everett (Resident) 

Jared Klajnbart (Resident) 

Themi Corakis (Business Owner) 

Clare Buszka  (TB)
VACANT (TB, Ex Officio) 

Manage voluntary contributions from staff to 

recognize employee life events (determined by 

Staff within the Sunshine Fund, not TB)

3 10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



 

7275 W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, MI  49009, (269) 216-5220, Fax (269) 375-7180, www.oshtemo.org 

 

 

Memorandum 

Date: September 26th, 2023 

To: Township Board 

From: Zach Pearson, Public Works Project Manager 

Subject: KL Ave Shared Use Path OCBA Contract  

 
Objective 

Motion to approve O’Boyle, Blalock & Associates, Inc. updated proposal for 2023 and 2024 professional services.  

Approval of budget amendment for professional services.  

 

 

Background 

Public Works has contracted with O’Boyle, Blalock & Associates, Inc. (OCBA) since 2021 on efforts to design and 

construct a shared use path on the North side of KL Ave from Drake Rd. to the Paddock Apartments. The contract signed 

in 2021 was a multi-year contract covering 2021 through 2024 efforts for OCBA, and Wightman (subconsultant). Metro 

Consulting Associates were later added as a Right-of-Way agent to be billed through OCBA.  

 

Over the course of the design process the project has seen significant delays due to on-going negotiations between 

Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) and Amtrak over the ability to reconstruct the US-131 overpass that 

crosses KL Ave. The project has been broken into phases to complete a portion of the path from Drake Rd. up to the 

overpass (phase 1) in 2023 and then phase 2 will be from West of the overpass to the Paddock apartments, and 

construction of phase 2 will coincide with the overpass construction. The overpass is currently projected to begin 

construction in 2024.  

 

Due to the above-mentioned multi-year delays and scope changes of the project, OCBA has created a new proposal that 

will cover the remainder of 2023 costs and future 2024 costs, replacing the old agreement. OCBA recommends 

proceeding with the new proposal for 2023 and 2024 and creating new agreements for years beyond 2024 as needed. This 

will allow for more flexibility and easier tracking of budgets moving forward.  

 

In the new proposal OCBA provides the following breakdown of costs:  

    

2023 Phase 1     2023 Phase 2 

OCBA $12,000     OCBA $8,000 

Wightman $108,000    Wightman $37,000 

      MCA Appraisal Updates $7,500 

      MCA – 60 hours at $115/hour $6,900 

 

      2024 Phase 2  

      OCBA $10,000 

      Wightman $31,000 

 

The new contract proposal would result in a change of the phase 1 2023 budget of $26,043. The Phase 2 work was not 

previously budgeted separately. The new proposal will result in an increase in the 2023 budget for Phase 2 of $59,400. 

These contract phases and FY expenditure adjustments are covered by a budget amendment made by the Board in April 

2023, which added the approved ARPA funds to the KL Non-Motorized Project budget line item. No new funds are 

requested.  

 

34



 

7275 W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, MI  49009, (269) 216-5220, Fax (269) 375-7180, www.oshtemo.org 

 

 

 

  

         

 

 

STATEMENT OF WHAT YOU ARE ASKING BOARD TO APPROVE 

Approval of 2023/2024 OCBA Professional Services agreement 

Approval of budget amendment to allocate funds within the blueline to accommodate the above-described budget 

changes.  

 

 

 

Attachments  

OCBA Proposal  

  

35



 

 

 
 
 
 

31 August 2023 
 
Ms. Anna Horner, Director of Public Works 
Charter Township of Oshtemo 
ahorner@oshtemo.org 
 
Re:  Proposal for Professional Services – 2023/2024 
 KL Avenue Non-Motorized Path, Drake Road to Copper Beech Blvd CD-CA 
 
Dear Anna: 
 
O’Boyle, Cowell, Blalock & Associates, Inc. (OCBA) is pleased to present the following updated proposal in 
collaboration with Wightman & Associates, Inc. and Metro Consulting Associates (MCA) to provide 
professional services to develop final bidding documents and construction administration for a non-
motorized path on the north side of KL Avenue from Drake Road to Copper Beech Boulevard.  Thank you 
for inviting us to continue to be involved in this exciting project.   
 
Our Understanding of the Project 
 
We understand that Oshtemo Township has Phase 1 construction documents that are 100% complete 
based upon current coordination efforts with the Road Commission of Kalamazoo County (RCKC) and the 
Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT). We understand that MDOT is nearing completion of the 
construction documents for the U.S. 131 overpass replacement and have tentatively scheduled 
construction for 2025-2026, although this is dependent on successful coordination with Amtrak. 
Construction of the proposed non-motorized trailway will occur in three separate phases due to grant 
funding and coordination with MDOT.   
 
OCBA and Wightman had previously submitted a proposal for CD – CA scopes in 2021 that was accepted 
by Oshtemo Township.  Since the acceptance of the proposal, the project has dealt with multiple 
schedule delays in order to attempt to match up with MDOT’s changing construction schedule.  The 
design team also had to put together a second set of Phase 1 construction documents to be included in 
MDOT’s construction document package.  The scope information listed below is based on the current 
MDOT construction schedule but that could potentially be subject to change again.  OCBA and Wightman 
will use the previous alignment and layout and survey information prepared previously to complete the 
trail layout for the Phase 2 construction document packages and will coordinate with RCKC and MDOT on 
these layouts. OCBA and Wightman will also help with the following tasks over the next four years: 
 
2023 

1) Phase 2 Construction Document Sets: OCBA and Wightman will prepare the Phase 2 construction 
design document set in coordination with the RCKC , Kalamazoo Metro, and MDOT. 
Documentation will include demolition, layout, landscape, and grading plans as well as typical 
cross sections and details. Special provisions will be prepared per MDOT standards for bidding. 
Structural design and documentation of the Phase II boardwalk and retaining wall will also be 

36



  

included in this proposal. All plans will be updated to meet current RCKC and MDOT standards to 
facilitate review and approval. These plans will be submitted for MDOT Grade Inspection in early 
2025.   

2) Phase 2 SHPO/Section106 Review: Wightman will consult with Orbis to prepare and submit the 
SHPO Section 106 documentation.  This scope of work consists of the application and desktop 
review.  This does not include any necessary fieldwork (exploratory excavations or field 
investigations) that may be required by SHPO or based on the findings of the desktop review.  If 
SHPO requires additional efforts, additional fees would be requested at that time.  

3) Phase 2 Opinion of Probable Costs:  OCBA and Wightman will refine the 2022 opinion of probable 
costs for the Phase 2 project for Oshtemo Township staff to evaluate funding options.   

4) Phase 2 Review Meetings: OCBA and Wightman will meet with Oshtemo Township, RCKC, and 
MDOT to review 50% and 90% CD plans for Phase 2.   

5) PHASE 2 Property Acquisition: OCBA and Wightman will continue to assist Oshtemo Township 
and MCA on the property acquisition needed for the Phase 2 non-motorized trail.  Easement 
exhibits for the five parcels are included in this proposal.  Any easements acquired as part of the 
design process will need to be in accordance with MDOT Real Estate regulations.   

6) Bidding of Phase 1 Plans: OCBA and Wightman will continue to assist Oshtemo Township in the 
bidding process for the Phase I construction documents through MDOT with construction 
scheduled to start in late fall of 2023. 

7) Phase 1 Construction Administration: OCBA will provide construction administration services and 
Wightman will provide on-site engineering inspection services during the construction of the 
Phase 1 trail through 2023. We are estimating this phase of the project to be approximately 8 
weeks in duration with an Inspector to be on site 60 hrs./week.  Supplemental personnel will be 
added as needed during paving operations.  Wightman will also be providing survey field staking 
during construction.  Construction Engineering is listed as an estimated fee range due to the fact 
that the contractor is responsible for setting the construction schedule.  Construction 
Administration will be billed on a time and materials basis.     

8) Phase 1 Materials Testing:  Wightman will perform the necessary sampling and materials testing 
in accordance with MDOT procedures. This testing will generally consist of density, gradations, 
concrete, and HMA.  If there is any specialty testing required such as for geotextiles, geogrids, 
timber structures, structural fabrication, etc. Wightman will sub-consult this work to a third-party 
lab.  These testing services would be billed in accordance with Wightman’s Terms and Conditions 
as a reimbursable expense.  Prior to performing the work, Wightman will provide an estimated 
cost of these services. 

9) PHASE 2 New Wetland Delineation: Due to the timing delay between the original 2017 wetland 
delineation and the proposed 2025 EGLE permit request, EGLE will require a newer wetland 
delineation to be prepared. OCBA will coordinate proposals for these services (costs are not 
included in this proposal for the wetland delineation service) and incorporate the new wetland 
limit information into the construction documents.  
 

2024 
1) Phase 2 Right-of-Way Permit:  OCBA and Wightman will submit the application and plan sets for 

the RCKC Right-of-Way permit for the Phase 2 construction documents. This proposal assumes 
that Oshtemo Township will pay the permit fees.   

2) Phase 2 EGLE Permit: OCBA and Wightman will submit permit application to EGLE for the Joint 
Permit Application for the Phase 2 construction documents. The application will include plans, 
cross-sections, earthwork calculations, and other data required by the permitting agency. This 
proposal assumes that Oshtemo Township will pay the permit fees. 

37



  

3) Phase 2 MDOT Grade Inspections: OCBA and Wightman will submit both construction document 
plan and specification sets to MDOT for the Grade Inspections. OCBA and Wightman will meet 
with Oshtemo Township staff, RCKC staff, and MDOT staff to review the MDOT comments and 
inspect the site.   

4) Bidding of Phase 2 Plans: OCBA and Wightman will assist Oshtemo Township in the bidding 
process for the Phase 2 construction documents through MDOT to start in late 2024.   

 
2025 

1) Phase 2 Construction Administration: OCBA will provide construction administration services and 
Wightman will provide on-site engineering inspection services during the construction of the 
Phase 2 project through the end of 2025.  We are estimating this phase of the project to be 
approximately 13 weeks in duration with an Inspector to be on site 60 hrs./week.  Supplemental 
personnel will be added as needed during paving operations.  Wightman will also be providing 
survey field staking during construction.  Construction Engineering is listed as an estimated fee 
range due to the fact that the contractor is responsible for setting the construction schedule.  
Construction Administration will be billed on a time and materials basis.     

2) Phase 2 Materials Testing:  Wightman will perform the necessary sampling and materials testing 
in accordance with MDOT procedures. This testing will generally consist of density, gradations, 
concrete, and HMA.  If there is any specialty testing required such as for geotextiles, geogrids, 
timber structures, structural fabrication, etc. Wightman will sub-consult this work to a third-party 
lab.  These testing services would be billed in accordance with Wightman’s Terms and Conditions 
as a reimbursable expense.  Prior to performing the work, Wightman will provide an estimated 
cost of these services. 

 
2026 

1) Phase 2 Construction Administration: OCBA will provide construction administration services and 
Wightman will provide on-site engineering inspection services during the construction of the 
Phase 2 project connection to the MDOT trail under the U.S. 131 overpass through the end of 
2026.  We are estimating this phase of the project to be approximately 6 weeks in duration with 
an Inspector to be on site 60 hrs./week.  Supplemental personnel will be added as needed during 
paving operations.  Wightman will also be providing survey field staking during construction.   
Construction Engineering is listed as an estimated fee range due to the fact that the contractor is 
responsible for setting the construction schedule.   

2) Phase 2 Materials Testing:  Wightman will perform the necessary sampling and materials testing 
in accordance with MDOT procedures. This testing will generally consist of density, gradations, 
concrete, and HMA.  If there is any specialty testing required such as for geotextiles, geogrids, 
timber structures, structural fabrication, etc. Wightman will sub-consult this work to a third-party 
lab.  These testing services would be billed in accordance with Wightman’s Terms and Conditions 
as a reimbursable expense.  Prior to performing the work, Wightman will provide an estimated 
cost of these services. 

 
Services Not Included in this Proposal: (but can be added in later after the scope is determined) 

1) 2024 Wetland Delineation  
2) Geotechnical Soil Borings  
3) Property Acquisition, Title Searches for Easements, and Easement Documentation 
4) Electrical Lighting Design and Documentation 
5) Specialty Testing Services 

 

38



  

We propose to provide the services outlined in this proposal for an estimated fee of $220,400.00, not 
including reimbursable expenses, which we estimate will be in the range of $3,500.00. The fee is broken 
down as follows: 

 
2023           Phase 1  Phase 2   
OCBA           $  12,000.00  $    8,000.00  
Wightman         $108,000.00  $  37,000.00 
MCA Appraisal Updates ($1,500/parcel for 5 parcels)      $    7,500.00 
MCA - 60 hours at $115/hour        __________________ $    6,900.00_ 

   $120,000.00  $  59,400.00 
 

2024           
OCBA             $  10,000.00 
Wightman            $  31,000.00 
        $  41,000.00 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to submit this proposal! 
 
Sincerely, 
 
O’BOYLE, COWELL, BLALOCK & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 
 
 
Rachel Hughes-Nilsson, PLA, ASLA 
Associate 
 
Cc: B. Baker, Wightman 

39



1 
 

 

 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF OSHTEMO 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY, MI 

 

 NON-DISCRIMINATION POLICY FOR FORMAL BIDDING 

 

EFFECTIVE: AUGUST 22, 2017 

 

 

 Pursuant to the requirements of 1976, P.A. 453 (Michigan Civil Rights Act) and 1976, P.A. 

220 (Michigan Handicapped Rights Act), and the Oshtemo Charter Township Non-Discrimination 

Ordinance No. 549, adopted August 27, 2013, all Contractors or their agents wishing to do business 

with the Township, shall agree not to discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 

with respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, or a matter directly or 

indirectly related to employment, because of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, height, 

weight, marital status, familial status, citizenship, gender identity, sexual orientation, genetic 

information, or because of a physical or mental disability/handicap that is unrelated to the person's 

ability to perform the duties of a particular job or position.  All Contractors and their agents further 

agree that any subcontract shall contain a non-discrimination provision identical to this provision and 

binding upon any and all subcontractors.   

 Any Contractor not complying with these requirements shall be ineligible to receive award of a 

bid for any Township project. If awarded any Township Contracts, all Contractors and Sub-

Contractors agree to the following: 

 

1) The Contractor shall not discriminate against an employee or applicant for employment with 

respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, or a matter directly or 

indirectly related to employment because of race, religion, color, national origin, handicap, 

40



2 
 

age, sex height, weight, marital status, familial status, citizenship, gender identity, sexual 

orientation, genetic information, or because of a physical or mental disability/handicap that is 

unrelated to the person’s ability to perform the duties of a particular job or position.  It will 

take affirmative action to insure that applicants are employed and that employees are treated 

during employment, without regard to their race, religion, color, national origin, age, sex, 

height, weight or marital status.  Such action shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

 employment upgrading, demotion or transfer; recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; 

rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including 

apprenticeship. 

 

2) The Contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf 

of the Contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment 

without regard to race, religion, color, national origin, age, sex, height, weight or marital 

status, familial status, citizenship, gender identity, sexual orientation, genetic information, or 

because of a physical or mental disability/handicap. 

 

3) The Contractor or its collective bargaining representative will send to each labor union or 

representative of workers with which it has a collective bargaining agreement or other contract 

or understanding, a notice advising the said labor union or workers' representative its 

commitments under this paragraph. 

 

41



3 
 

4) The Contractor will comply with all published rules, regulations, directives, and orders of the 

Michigan Civil Rights Commission relevant to Section 206, 1976 PA 453, as amended, and 

Oshtemo Charter Township Non-Discrimination Ordinance No. 549. 

 

5) Upon request, the Contractor will furnish and file compliance reports within such time and 

upon such forms as provided by the Michigan Civil Rights Commission, or Oshtemo Charter 

Township; said forms may also elicit information as to the practices, policies, programs, and 

employment statistics of each Subcontractor as well as the Contractor itself, and said 

Contractor will permit access to its books, records, and accounts by the Michigan Civil Rights 

Commission, Oshtemo Charter Township, and/or its agent, for purposes of investigation to 

ascertain compliance with this contract and with rules, regulations, and orders of the Civil 

Right Commission relevant to Section 206, 1976 PA 453, as amended, or Oshtemo Charter 

Township. 

 

6) In the event that the Civil Rights Commission, or Oshtemo Charter Township, finds, after a 

hearing that a Contractor has not complied with the contractual obligations under this 

Agreement, the Civil Rights Commission, or the Township, may, as part of its order based 

upon such findings, certify said findings to the State Administrative Board of the State of 

Michigan, or the Oshtemo Township Board, which Board may order the cancellation of the 

Contract found to have been violated, and/or declare the Contractor ineligible for future 

contracts until the Contractor complies with said order of the Civil Rights Commission, or the 

Township Board.  Notice of said declaration of future ineligibility may be given to any or all of 

42



 

4 
 

the persons with whom the Contractor is declared ineligible to contract as a contracting party 

in future contracts. 

 

7) The Contractor will include, or incorporate by reference, the provisions of the foregoing 

Subparagraphs 1) through 6) in every subcontract or purchase order unless exempted by the 

rules, regulations, or orders of the Michigan Civil Rights Commission or Oshtemo Charter 

Township, and will provide in every subcontract or purchase order that said provisions will be 

binding upon each subcontractor or seller. 

43



MEMORANDUM 

To: Township Boar 
From: James Porte 

":,.,. -s \J I 
u l /

�Oshtemo 
/"'/4

r, 
�' CHARTER TOWNSHIP

7 fl(\'\_ • Established 1839 • 
Date: September 

�
5 23 

Subject: First Rea • of Solar Energy Systems Ordinance 

Objectives 

To accept for First Reading the Solar Energy Systems Ordinance and set for Second Reading. 

Recommended Motion 

I make the motion to accept for First Reading the Solar Energy Systems Ordinance and set for Second 
Reading on October 1 0, 2023. 

Background 

Consideration to adopt Article 60 enacting the Solar Energy Systems Ordinance to pennit and regulate 
Solar Energy Systems in the Township. 

Information Provided 

I have attached a copy of the Recommendation from the Planning Commission, Meeting Minutes of 

Public Hearing held on September 14, 2023 and a copy of the draft Ordinance.

Township Anomcy's Office 
7275 W. Main Street 

Kalamazoo, Ml 49009 
(269) 375-7195 

44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



7275 W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, MI  49009, (269) 216-5220, Fax (269) 375-7180, www.oshtemo.org 

Memorandum 
Date: 26 September 2023 

To: Township Board 

From: Sara Feister, Human Resources Director 

  Subject:         Consideration of an Improved Human Resources Management System 

Objective 
Requesting Board approval to move forward with to partner with ADP for implementation on a new Human Resources 
Management System. 

Background 
To respond and adapt to the internal growth of the Township, there is a need for an enhanced Human Resources 
Management system. In the past 5 years, we have grown to need an HR Department, and now we have grown to a point 
where we need more efficient resources to serve our employees. Our Mission Statement speaks of a commitment to 
responsible growth, and that growth includes internal growth as well. The purpose of the implementation of a new HRM 
system is to centralize HR functions, including recruiting, on-boarding, benefit administration, ACA compliance, payroll 
(and payroll related reporting), as well as provide employees with a one-stop self-service portal. Implementing a more 
comprehensive and intuitive HRM system will also streamline processes that are currently fragmented between multiple 
departments & programs. Implementing this new system will serve to promote the core values of the Township, most 
notably, Innovation, Sustainability, & Professionalism. Everything will be electronic and housed in this new HRM 
system, so it will eliminate the need for paper copies of on-boarding forms and reduce the Township’s environmental 
footprint. It will also serve to eliminate the risk of errors associated with manual entry of personal information. Another 
benefit will be increased communication with staff as we can utilize the platform to relay important information as well 
as administer a more intentional and responsible training program. 

Financial Information 
The total current cost of the HRM system and all things associated with payroll is as follows: 

1. Annual Cost for BS&A HR Module: $1,371*
2. Annual Cost for BS&A Timesheets Module: $986*
3. Annual Cost for BS&A Payroll Module: $1,766*

*BS&A Contract (expires 12/31/23): This agreement shall automatically renew for additional 
one-year terms unless either party provides the other with thirty days prior written notice of 
termination.  The Township agrees that it is not entitled to any refund of fees paid under this 
agreement upon termination.

4. Average Annual Cost for Preparation of the 1099s & W2s: $2,000
TOTAL: $6,123 

Per ADP, we are not billed anything until the program is live. 
Additionally, there are unused funds from GL#101-228-80500 due to the timing of the implementation of the new 
phone system in the amount of approximately $8,000. 

Attached Information Provided 
1. Proposal from ADP
2. Proposal from Tesseon

Core Values 
Sustainability, Innovation, Professionalism 

74



Company Information

Oshtemo Charter Township 
7275 W Main St 
Kalamazoo, MI 49009-8210 
United States 

 

  

Executive Contact

Sara  Feister
HR Director  
sfeister@oshtemo.org 
(269) 655-5731 
 

70 $3,800.00 $17,739.10 ($2,725.00)
Total

Employees

Implementation

Costs

Total Annual

Investment

Total Annual Savings during

promotional period; See Terms

Expiration
9/21/2023

ADP Sales Associate

Tanner Christian
MMDM
tanner.christian@adp.com

** The Implementation Costs and Total Annual Investment listed out on this Investment Summary are estimates based on the
services, frequencies, recurring rates and pay counts outlined on the sales order and are shown for illustrative purposes only. 
These numbers are not binding amounts and shall not become incorporated into or made a part of any sales order or services
agreement governing the services contemplated therein.

Page 1

Investment Summary
Quote Number 02-2023-479674 2
 

  

 

75



Appendix : History Conversion Services

Description of Available History Conversion Services
 

 CONVERSION SERVICE
 

DESCRIPTION
 

Check History
 

Includes:Net/Gross Salary, Taxes, Deductions, Hours, Hours & Earnings Codes.
 
History data files will be created and imported into ADP Workforce Now for Client practitioner level access
only (not individual employee access).

 

Pay Rate History
 

Includes:Position ID, Change Effective On, Compensation change Reason, Rate Type, Rate 1 Amount,
Standard Hours, Pay Frequency Code, Rate 2 Amount, Rate Currency, Annual Salary.
 
History data will be loaded to an external viewer provided by ResNav Solutions (see below).

 

Position History
 

Includes: Job Title, Department, Business Unit, Location, Assigned Shift, Full time Employee, Pay Grade,
Job Class, Salary Structure, Allocation, Union, FLSA, Workers Compensation, Scheduled Hours, Hours
period, EEO Job Class, Cost Number, Management Position, Reports to Position ID. History data will be
loaded to an external viewer provided by ResNav Solutions (see below). Automated Export Services are
available (see below).

 

Benefits History (Employee
Benefit Selection)

 

Includes: Employee level Benefit selectiown data included: Plan Type and Name, Coverage Level,
Enrollment Effective and End Dates, Employee and Employer Costs per period. Does not include company
level detail for Benefit plans. History data will be loaded to an external viewer provided by ResNav
Solutions (see below).
 
Automated Export Services are available (see below).

 

Benefits / Dependent  History
 Includes: Employee Level Dependents, Including: Dependent Tax ID, Relationship, Name, Address,

Gender, Birth Date, Type, Status, Enrollment Start and End Dates, Plan Name and type, Plan Provider
Name, Coverage level, Benefit Status.
 
History data will be loaded to an external viewer provided by ResNav Solutions (see below).
 
Automated Export Services are available (see below).

 

Time & Attendance History
 

Includes: Employee Time Zone, Pay Rule, Punch Date, Punch In/Out Times & Codes, Totaled Amount,
Cumulative Total, Reason/Details.
 
History data will be loaded to an external viewer provided by ResNav Solutions (see below).
 
Automated Export Services are available (see below).

 

Employee Status History
 

Includes:Changes to Employee Status, including Termination Date and Reason, Rehire  Eligibility and
Date, LOA Start and Return Dates with Reasons

 

Loading History Data Using ResNav Solutions. History data will be loaded to an external history viewer provided by ResNav   Solutions, a
standalone system, which allows Client to retain history from its legacy systems. History Viewer URL access will be   provided to Client practitioner
for login with password. Access to History Viewer will be at the practitioner level only (not individual employee access).

Automated Export Services. The Automated Export Services associated with History Viewer, applies to the custom report that loads  data from
the ADP Application Platform to the History Viewer on a one-time daily basis. The data loaded from the ADP Application Platform to the History
Viewer is specific to pay rate, status and position data only. This enables joint reporting from History Viewer for both current and historical
employee data.  ResNav Solutions shall setup the custom report under a specific practitioner during the history conversion process and the ADP
integration team shall initiate the automation of the report.

PROPRIETARY AND CONFIDENTIAL TO ADP, INC.
 

Page 2 
 76



 

Data Privacy Appendix
 

 

 

This Data Privacy Appendix is a data processing agreement under Applicable Law and supplements the Agreement,
including Sections 4 (Confidentiality), 9.3 (Data Security) and 10.1 (Data Security Breach/Notification), between ADP, Inc.
and Client. Capitalized terms throughout this Data Privacy Appendix not defined in the Agreement are defined in the ADP
Privacy Glossary at www.adp.com/-/media/adp/privacy/pdf/glossary_en.pdf.
 

 

 

 
PART I - GENERAL
 
1.      Client Obligations. Client shall only provide ADP
with Client Personal Data that: (a) is required to perform
the Services; (b) has been collected in accordance with
Applicable Law; and (c) Client has authority to provide
under Applicable Law.
 
2.      ADP Obligations. ADP, as a Data Processor (or
equivalent term under Applicable Law), will comply with
Applicable Law for Processing Client Personal Data
pursuant to the Agreement. ADP will not: (a) “sell” or
“share” Client Personal Data; (b)  retain, use, disclose or
otherwise Process Client Personal Data outside of its
direct business relationship with Client or for any
commercial or other purpose other than the business
purposes specified in the agreement(s) between Client
and ADP, except as permitted by Applicable Law; or (c)
combine Client Personal Data with personal data that
ADP receives from, or on behalf of, other persons, or
collects from its own interaction with a consumer, except
as permitted under Applicable Law.  ADP shall have the
right to Process Client Personal Data in order to comply
with its legal obligations (e.g., compliance with sanction
laws) or in order to prevent, detect or investigate fraud.
ADP employees and contingent workers are authorized
to Process Client Personal Data to the extent necessary
to provide Services and as permitted under the
Agreement and by Applicable Law.
 
3.      De-identification and Aggregation. In addition to
any rights granted to ADP in Section 4 of the Agreement
to use aggregated and anonymized data, ADP will not
attempt to, and will not, re-identify any Client Personal
Data.
 
4.      Transfers to Subprocessors. ADP may transfer
Client Personal Data to ADP Subprocessors and Third
Party Subprocessors located outside of the country in
which Client Personal Data was collected. Third Party
Subprocessors are bound by written contracts with
ADP that impose data protection terms that are not less
protective than those imposed by this Data Privacy
Appendix.
An up-to-date list of ADP Subprocessors and Third Party
Subprocessors, including locations, is accessible at
https://thebridge.adp.com/workforce-now/gdpr/m/media/
634. Such list may be updated from time to time.
 

 

 
5.     Compliance Obligations. ADP will notify Client if
ADP makes a determination that it can no longer meet its
Processing obligations under Applicable Law.
Client may, upon providing written notice to ADP, take
reasonable steps to stop and remediate unauthorized
Processing of Client Personal Data.
 
6.     Client Instructions. When receiving a Client
instruction regarding the Processing of Personal Data,
ADP will notify Client if ADP considers such instruction
violates Applicable Law; however, ADP is not obliged to
and will not perform a legal examination with respect to a
Client instruction.
 
7.     Assistance. ADP will assist Client with its data
privacy obligations where required under Applicable Law,
including assisting Client in responding to and
addressing Client Employee individual rights requests
and complaints and providing Client with relevant
information for conducting data protection impact or risk
assessments. ADP reserves the right to charge for such
assistance rendered.  If ADP receives an individual rights
request or complaint directly from a Client Employee,
ADP shall promptly forward the Client Employee request
to Client.
 
8.     Client Audit. ADP will answer questions asked by
Client regarding the Processing of Client Personal Data
by ADP. In the event Client reasonably considers that the
answers provided by ADP justify further analysis, ADP
will, in agreement with Client, either:
 
(a) provide security materials known as ADP’s trust
package (which includes security policy and standards
overview, password summary, resiliency program
summary, disaster recovery program overview, data
center and hosting service summary and a third party
risk management executive summary), that details ADP’s
business processes and procedures for the Processing of
Client Personal Data; or,
 
(b) make the facilities it uses to Process Client Personal
Data available for an audit by a qualified independent
third-party assessor reasonably acceptable to ADP,
bound by confidentiality obligations satisfactory to ADP
and engaged by Client. Client will provide a copy of the
audit report to ADP’s Global Chief Privacy Officer which
will be ADP Confidential
 

 

 

20221202
 

   

PROPRIETARY AND CONFIDENTIAL TO ADP, INC.
 

Page 3 
 77

http://www.adp.com/-/media/adp/privacy/pdf/glossary_en.pdf
https://thebridge.adp.com/workforce-now/gdpr/m/media/634
https://thebridge.adp.com/workforce-now/gdpr/m/media/634


 

Information. Audits shall be conducted no more than
once per year during the term of the Agreement during
regular business hours and will be subject to (i) a written
request submitted to ADP at least 45 days in advance of
the proposed audit date; (ii) a detailed written audit plan
reviewed and approved in advance by ADP’s security
organization; and (iii) ADP’s on-site security policies.
Such audits will take place only in the presence of a
representative of ADP’s global security office, ADP’s
global data privacy & governance team, or such person
designated by the appropriate ADP representative. The
audits shall not be permitted to disrupt ADP’s Processing
activities or compromise the security and confidentiality
of Personal Data pertaining to other ADP Clients. ADP
will charge Client a reasonable fee for such audit.
 
PART II – GDPR 
 
9. Scope. This Part II applies solely with respect to Client
Personal Data subject to Regulation (EU) 2016/679 on
the protection of natural persons with regard to the
processing of Personal Data and on the free movement
of such data (“General Data Protection Regulations” or
“GDPR”). With respect to ADP’s processing of Client
Personal Data subject to GDPR, the ADP Privacy Code,
located at https://www.adp.com/-/media/adp/privacy/pdf/
bcrpc_en.pdf, governs. ADP has obtained EU
authorization of its ADP Privacy Code. 
 
10. International Transfers. For transfers outside of the
EEA, Switzerland and United Kingdom, the ADP Privacy
Code serves as the legal basis for the data transfer to an
ADP Group Company or between ADP and an ADP
Subprocessor, which Client acknowledges and accepts.
ADP shall enter into appropriate contractual agreements,
such as standard contractual
 

 

clauses, or rely upon any other lawful transfer
mechanism prior to transferring Client Personal Data to a
Third Party Subprocessor or to an ADP company when
the ADP Privacy Code does not apply.
 
11. Additional Subprocessor Obligations. Within 30 days
of a written update (including electronic notice) by ADP to
Client adding a new Subprocessor, Client may object to
such new Subprocessor by providing written notice to
ADP alleging objective justifiable grounds that such
Subprocessor is unable to protect Client Personal Data. If
the parties cannot reach a mutually acceptable solution,
ADP shall, at its option, either: (a) not allow the
Subprocessor to access Client Personal Data; or (b)
allow Client to terminate the relevant Services in
accordance with the terms of the Agreement.
 
12. ADP Privacy Code EU Authorization. ADP will make
commercially reasonable efforts to maintain the EU
authorization of its ADP Privacy Code for the duration of
the Agreement and will promptly notify Client of any
subsequent material changes in the EU authorization of
its ADP Privacy Code.   
 
PART III - Miscellaneous
 
13. Order of Precedence. In the event of a conflict
between the Agreement, this Data Privacy Appendix, the
ADP Privacy Code and Applicable Law, then the conflict
will be resolved by giving effect to such in the following
order of precedence: (a) Applicable Law; (b) the ADP
Privacy Code; (c) this Data Privacy Appendix; and (d) the
Agreement.
 
14. Scope. This Data Privacy Appendix provides no
additional rights to a Client Employee that are not already
provided under the Applicable Law to which the Client
Employee is subject.
 

 

 

20221202
 

   

PROPRIETARY AND CONFIDENTIAL TO ADP, INC.
 

Page 4 
 78

https://www.adp.com/-/media/adp/privacy/pdf/bcrpc_en.pdf
https://www.adp.com/-/media/adp/privacy/pdf/bcrpc_en.pdf


Company Information

Oshtemo Charter Township 
7275 W Main St 
Kalamazoo, MI 49009-8210 
United States 

 

  

Executive Contact

Sara  Feister
HR Director  
sfeister@oshtemo.org 
(269) 655-5731 
 

Recurring Fees and Considerations
Number of Employees: 70 on Oshtemo Charter Township

Per Processing Count Min Base Rate Bi-Weekly Annual

Workforce Now Payroll Solutions
• Essential Plus Payroll
• Enhanced HR
• Essential Learning
• Benefits Administration
• Recruitment and Talent Acquisition
• Recruiting Embedded Intelligence
• DataCloud Analytics
• DataCloud Enhanced Insights

70 - $60.00 $6.98 $548.60 $14,263.60

Employment and Income Verification
• Employment Verification

70 - - - $0.00 $0.00

Monthly Processing Count Min Base Rate Monthly Annual

Workforce Now Time and Attendance
• Essential Time

70 $265.00 - $3.79 $265.30 $3,183.60

Additional Jurisdiction (if applicable) 2+ $11.00/month
International Employees Rate (if applicable) $3.10/month
Courier Delivery (if applicable) $20.00 per delivery

Annual Processing Count Min Base Rate  Annual

Year End Forms, W2s or 1099s 70 - - $4.17 $291.90

Total Annual Investment Total Annual

Workforce Now Services $17,739.10

Other Considerations
Hardware and Other Fees

Count Rate Setup

• Professional Services: Pay Check History Conversion 1 $1,800.00 $1,800.00

Implementation
• Implementation for Workforce Now Payroll Solutions $2,000.00

Total Other Considerations Total Setup

Implementation and Setup
Implementation Discount Value

$12,500.00
($8,700.00)

Estimated Total Net Implementation $3,800.00
 

Sales Order
Quote Number 02-2023-479674 2
 

  

 

Page 5 
79



Important Project and Billing Information
 

Billing for Payroll Processing Services, HCM and any module bundled into the single per employee per processing fee for payroll,
is billed immediately following the client's first payroll processing. The billing count is based on the number of pays submitted
during each processing period, therefore total billing may fluctuate.

 
Billing for Essential Time will begin on the date Essential Time is available for use by the CLIENT in a production environment. The
billing count is based on all non-terminated employees in the Time Module. This count includes practitioners and supervisors.

 
Unemployment Claims in excess of the 10% claims cap will be billed at $36.00 per claim. The fee for optional hearing representation
is $155.00 per appearance. Attorney representation required in certain states and is subject to change (currently: AZ, DE, KY, MO,
NC, SC, SD, and WV). Representation fee not to exceed actual attorney fees. Optional service available through non-ADP affiliated
attorneys. Attorneys will be retained on behalf of client for limited purpose of representing Client at the hearing. No referral fee
applies. No attorney-client relationship exists or will be formed between ADP and Client.

 
Client intends to use Direct Deposit and Paycard and be fully paperless for Employee Pay Statements using ADP Self Service
and/or ADP Mobile App to view all Pay and W2 information. By doing so, ADP will not charge a delivery fee unless something is in
fact delivered.

 
Promotion
 

Promotion is spread over the first two (2) years of services (also referred to as the Promotional Period) applying to months 7 & 8
each year from each product/controls start date. Actual promotional value may vary based on a number of reasons, including
but not limited to: start date, number of processings during the promotional month(s) and actual number of employees paid
during the promotional months.
 
 

Other
ADP’s Fees for Service will be debited directly out of client’s bank account of their choosing seven (7) days from invoice date. ADP
will send all invoices to sfeister@oshtemo.org
Expiration Date: 9/21/2023

Important Professional Services Information
 

History Conversion: The services noted on this sales order are performed by ADP Professional Services and are for companies
with less than 1000 active employees with a maximum of 5000 total records (a combination of both active and terminated lives)
with data coming from a single data base source. Conversion of history from a database with a greater number of records or from
multiple databases must be quoted via a customized statement of work.

 
Summary
Estimated Annual Net Investment: $17,739.10 Total Net Implementation: $3,800.00
Estimated Annual Net Investment
during promotional period:

$15,014.10

The ADP Services Listed on this Sales Order are provided at the prices set forth herein and in accordance with the ADP Master
Services Agreement (or other similar agreement governing ADP's services), which shall include any appendix, exhibit,
addendum, schedule or other similar document attached thereto or accompanying this Sales Order. By signing below you are
acknowledging and agreeing to such terms and conditions and to the listed prices.
 

 

ADP, Inc.
 

 

Client: Oshtemo Charter Township

 

 

Signature:
 

 
 

 

Signature:
 

 
 

 

Name:
 

 
 

 

Name:
 

 
 

 

Title:
 

 
 

 

Title:
 

 
 

 

Date:
 

 
 

 

Date:
 

 
 

 

Sales Order
Quote Number 02-2023-479674 2
 

  

 

Page 6 
80



Workforce Now Included Services
Essential Plus Payroll
• Tax Filing Service • Employee and Manager Self Service
• Payment Services • Access to Mobile Apps
• Reports Library and Custom Report Writer • Employee Discount Program
• Wage Garnishment Processing • New Hire Reporting
• Group Term Life Auto Calculation • General Ledger Solution
• Intelligent Employee Case Resolution • Conversational Virtual Assistant
• Online Reports and Pay Statements • Wisely Pay Card Services

Enhanced HR
• Employee Development Tracking • New Hire Onboarding / I-9 Workflow
• Paid Time Off Accruals Engine • Compliance Reporting
• Multiple Languages & Currencies • Organization Charting
• Country Specific Workflows & Processes • Policy Acknowledgement
• Country Specific Formatting & Custom Fields • Total Rewards Statements
• Secure Online Document Storage with Role

Based Security, Search & Audit Functionality
• Employee Feedback and Sentiment Surveys

• Communication Broadcasts

Essential Learning
• 50 pre-packaged high quality compliance and

development courses
• Upload custom training content (employee-

created or sourced from third-parties)
• Supports all content formats (including

SCORM, xAPI, MP3, MP4, PDF etc.)
• Actionable course tracking dashboards and

custom reporting capabilities
• Employee self-enrollments, accessible on

Desktop and ADP Mobile App
• Publish & track Instructor-led trainings (hosted

virtually or in physical classrooms)

Benefits Administration
• Multiple Benefit Plan Types • Dependent & Beneficiary Tracking
• Flexible Rate Structures (Age Banded & Salary

Tiers)
• Employee Open Enrollment with Personalized

Decision Support
• Notifications & Approvals • ACA Measurement Dashboard
• Invoice Auditing • Evidence of Benefit Offering Screens
• Annual 1095-C Forms • Annual 1094-C Filing

Recruitment and Talent Acquisition
• Mobile-first, branded career site for applicants • Requisition management and reporting
• Seamless job posting on 25,000+ job sites • Talent communities
• Candidate communications using email and

mobile text
• Interview scheduling and offer letter

management
• ZipRecruiter job slots • Industry and Geographic Compensation

Benchmarks

DataCloud Analytics
• Pre-Configured Key Performance • Ability to Customize Additional KPIs
• Executive Dashboard • Pay Equity Storyboard

DataCloud Enhanced Insights
• Visual comparisons between your data and

market averages
• Filters to obtain granular benchmarks

• Annual compensation explorer for deep
compensation insight

Essential Time
• Time Collection • Rule Based Calculations
• PTO Management & Reporting • Scheduling
• Request & Approval Workflows • Mobile Access
• ADP Portal with Customized Content • Paid Time Off Accruals

Sales Order
Quote Number 02-2023-479674 2
 

  

 

Page 7 
81



Workforce Now Included Services
Employment Verification
• Commercial Employment and Income

Verifications
• Client access to Electronic Reports and Tools

• Social Services Verifications • Immigration Verifications
• Workers Compensation Verifications

Thank you for your consideration

Sales Order
Quote Number 02-2023-479674 2
 

  

 

Page 8 
82



Prepared For: Oshtemo Township 

314-492-3689
 

ccummings@tesseon.com
 

83



314-492-3689 

ccummings@tesseon.com
 

84



314-492-3689 

ccummings@tesseon.com 85



314-492-3689 
ccummings@tesseon.com 

86



Price Quantity Subtotal
Implementation Fees (Due at Signing)
Implementation Fee
One Time Account Setup Fee

$250.00 1 $250.00

$250.00

314-492-3689
 

ccummings@tesseon.com

Sara Feister 

Select Below to Upload a Voided Check 
or Proof of Bank Information

Price Quantity Subtotal
Recurring Fees (Due 1st Payroll of Month)
Executive
Per Employee Per Month (PEPM)

$12.00 75 $900.00

Applicant Tracking 51-100 EEs $244.13 1 $244.13

General Ledger
Per Month

$0.00 1 $0.00

$1,144.13
Annual Fees (Due at Year End)
Base (W-2/1099)
Charge is per FEIN (1x a year)

$69.39 1 $69.39

PEPM (W-2/1099)
Per Employee (1x per year)

$9.20 75 $690.00

Shipping
Prices vary based on location.

$22.59 1 $22.59

$781.98

87



 Business Consultant 

314-492-3689 

ccummings@tesseon.com
 

88



Memorandum 
Date: September 26th, 2023 

To: Township Board 

From: Zach Pearson, Public Works Project Manager 

Subject: 9th St. Local Sidewalk Project Right-of-Way Agent Authorization 

Objective 
Motion to approve a budget amendment for $130,000 for easement acquisitions along South 9th Street to 
construct a non-motorized facility between Stadium Drive and Quail Run Drive. The $130,000 capital outlay for non-
motorized facilities will come from the American Rescue Plan Fund.

Motion to authorize Metro Consulting Associates to proceed with obtaining professional appraisals for three easements and 
to proceed with market-based good faith offers for the remaining easement acquisitions necessary to accommodate the 9th 
St. local sidewalk project.  

Background 
Metro Consulting Associates (MCA) has been contracted as sub-consultant of Wightman to complete a market study, 
appraisals, and property owner negotiations for the easements necessary to construct a 6’ wide sidewalk on the West side 
of S. 9th St. There are twenty-six (26) necessary easements both temporary and permanent; Six (6) commercial, and twenty 
(20) residential.

MCA has provided estimated compensation amounts for needed easements based on a market study. Three (3) commercial 
property easements have an estimated market value over $10,000. When estimated compensation exceeds $10,000 Michigan 
Department of Transportation (MDOT) requires individual appraisals and review of the appraisals be completed for the 
properties. These appraisals, and subsequent review, may determine more or less compensation is necessary for the 
properties. This process will take forty-five (45) days. The cost of the appraisals will be $3,900 each and the reviews will 
be $1,500 each totaling $16,200. These amounts were outlined as additional services in the professional services agreement 
with Wightman. 

The referenced additional services, as well as the compensation amount to property owners was not initially budgeted 
because the number of parcels affected and the acquisition costs were unknown prior to survey and engineering design. 
While we hope property owners will donate the required easements, we will not know the final cost of compensation until 
acquisitions are negotiated and completed.  The requested budget amount is believed sufficient to cover both the additional 
services of Metro Consulting Associates, as well as the market-based property compensation value.  Please note, however, 
the results of the individual appraisals or other acquisition considerations may add further “fair compensation” value for 
these parcels.  Should these needs exceed the approved budget, we will return to the Board to seek additional funding (if 
any) that may be needed to obtain the required easements.  

In summary, a budget amendment of $130,000 is requested for easement acquisitions, which includes $16,200 in additional 
services for MCA to proceed with individual appraisals and reviews of three (3) properties which exceed $10,000 in 
estimated compensation.  

STATEMENT OF WHAT YOU ARE ASKING BOARD TO APPROVE 
Authorize a budget amendment in the amount of $130,000 to cover the costs of easement acquisitions, which is to include 
additional easement acquisition services described in Oshtemo’s existing agreement with Wightman and MCA, their 
subconsultant. 

Authorize MCA to complete individual appraisals and review of appraisals of three parcels, and negotiate easement 
acquisitions with good faith, market-study based, compensation offers to property owners.  
MCA, and acquisition of easements necessary for the S. 9th St. sidewalk project.  

7275 W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, MI  49009, (269) 216-5220, Fax (269) 375-7180, www.oshtemo.org 
89



90



91



92



93



94



GL Number Description GL Number Description
101‐249‐90300 Legal Notices 8,000.00$           101‐000‐40000 Carryover 8,000.00$          

Total 8,000.00$           Total 8,000.00$          

GL Number Description GL Number Description
101‐262‐73000 Election Postage 10,000.00$         101‐249‐73000 General Postage 10,000.00$        

Total 10,000.00$         Total 10,000.00$        

GL Number Description GL Number Description
101‐262‐80800 Precinct Workers 16,000.00$         101‐249‐76100 Public Education 16,000.00$        

Total 16,000.00$         Total 16,000.00$        

GL Number Description GL Number Description
101‐249‐87200 New Hire Expenses 3,500.00$           101‐000‐40000 Carryover 3,500.00$          

Total 3,500.00$           Total 3,500.00$          

GL Number Description GL Number Description
101‐250‐96300 Contracted Legal Counsel $35,000.00 101‐000‐40000 Carryover 35,000.00$        

Total 35,000.00$         Total 35,000.00$        

GL Number Description GL Number Description
211‐344‐98100 Capital Outlay Facilities 650.00$               211‐344‐98100 Capital Outlay Facilities 650.00$              

Total 650.00$               Total 650.00$              

GL Number Description GL Number Description
211‐344‐98000 Capital Outlay Equipment 3,550.00$           211‐344‐98000 Capital Outlay Equipment 3,550.00$          

Total 3,550.00$           Total 3,550.00$          

GL Number Description GL Number Description
211‐344‐98100 Capital Outlay Facilities 3,000.00$           211‐344‐98100 Capital Outlay Facilities 3,000.00$          

Total 3,000.00$           Total 3,000.00$          

GL Number Description GL Number Description
Stadium to Quail Run West 130,000.00$       ARPA Funds 130,000.00$      

Total 130,000.00$       Total 130,000.00$      

209,700.00$      
202,500.00$      

SIGNATURE

Date Dept. Head Fund Name
Funds Requested To

Amount
Funds Requested From

Amount
Auth 
Only Explanation of Request

9/22/2023
Horner 
(interim 
M.Elliott)

Capital Outlay
no

Easement acquisitions to construct a non‐motorized facility between 
Stadium Drive and Quail Run Drive.  

Grand Total
Total Added to Budget 

REVIEW DATE  

9/21/2023 McComb Fire Equipment
yes

Moving leftover funds from radio purchase to buy large diameter 
hose, which we had several of our  "Short sections" fail during testing.  

Date Dept. Head Fund Name
Funds Requested To

Amount
Funds Requested From

Amount
Auth 
Only Explanation of Request

9/21/2023 McComb Fire Equipment
yes

Vehicle exhaust extraction system in apparatus bay at 5‐1 broke. 
These are components of that system. Specifically, a magnetic grabber 
base that attaches to the exhaust flange on the fire engine. This is 
using excess funds that will not be spent out of this years facilities 
budget. 

Date Dept. Head Fund Name
Funds Requested To

Amount
Funds Requested From

Amount
Auth 
Only Explanation of Request

9/20/2023 Porter Legal
No

Contraced Legal Counsel expenses for Solarek litigation matters.
Date Dept. Head Fund Name

Funds Requested To
Amount

Funds Requested From
Amount

Auth 
Only Explanation of Request

9/20/2023 McComb Fire Equipment
yes

Laundry Washing Machine broke. Had to purchase new. 
Date Dept. Head Fund Name

Funds Requested To
Amount

Funds Requested From
Amount

Auth 
Only Explanation of Request

9/13/2023 Farmer General
No

We did not anticipate any elections this year. These dollars will be 
reimbursed by the County. No new money. 

Date Dept. Head Fund Name
Funds Requested To

Amount
Funds Requested From

Amount
Auth 
Only Explanation of Request

9/20/2023 Feister General
No

New hire expenses (including advertising costs, pre‐employment 
screening/testing) exceeded the budgeted amount due to unforeseen 
vacancies and increased costs, mostly related to job postings on 
Indeed.

Date Dept. Head Fund Name
Funds Requested To

Amount
Funds Requested From

Amount
Auth 
Only Explanation of Request

Fund Name
Funds Requested To

Amount
Funds Requested From

9/13/2023 Farmer General
No

We did not anticipate any elections this year. These dollars will be 
reimbursed by the County. No new money. 

Date Dept. Head Fund Name
Funds Requested To

Amount
Funds Requested From

Amount
Auth 
Only Explanation of Request

Amount
Auth 
Only Explanation of Request

Budget Amendment Requests 

9/13/2023 Farmer General
No

Legal Notices exceeded the projected amount. No new money. 
Date Dept. Head

 9/22/2023

95



Michigan Department of Treasury ORIGINAL TO:  County Clerk(s) L-4029
614 (1-21) COPY TO:  Equalization Department(s)

TAX RATE REQUEST (This form must be completed and submitted on or before September 30, 2022.) COPY TO:  Each Township or City Clerk
MILLAGE REQUEST REPORT TO COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
This form is issued under MCL Sections 211.24e, 211.34 and 211.34d.  Filing is mandatory; Penalty applies. Carefully read the instructions on page 2.
County 2022 Taxable Value of All Properties in the unit as of 5/23/2022

KALAMAZOO
Local Government Unit For LOCAL School Districts: Current Year Taxable Value excluding Principal Residence, Qualified Agricultural, Qualified

OSHTEMO TOWNSHIP Forest , Industrial Personal and Commercial Personal Properties.

Tis form must be completed for each unit of government for which a property tax is levied.  Penalty for non-filing is provided under MCL Sec. 211.119.
The following tax rates have been authorized for levy on the 2022 tax roll.

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10) (11) (12)
Original 2021 2022 2022 Millage Millage
Millage Millage Rate Current Year Millage Rate Sec. 211.34 Truth Maximum Requested Requested Expiration 

Authorized Permanently Millage Permanently in Assessing or Allowable to be to be Date of
Purpose of Date of by Election, Reduced by Reduction Reduced by Equalization Millage Levied Levied Millage

Source Millage Election Charter, etc. MCL 211.34d Fraction MCL 211.34d Rollback Fraction Rate* July 1 Dec. 1 Authorized

Charter Operating 5.0000 4.8000 1.0000 4.8000 1.0000 4.8000 Unlimited

MCL 247.670 Roads 3.0000 3.0000 1.0000 3.0000 1.0000 3.0000

Prepared by Telephone Number Title of Preparer Date

Mathew Hansen (269) 383-8960 Equalization Director September 22, 2022
CERTIFICATION: As the representatives for the local government unit named above, we certify that these requested tax levy rates have been reduced, Local School District Use Only. Complete if requesting
if necessary, to comply with the state constitution (Article 9, Section 31), and that the requested levy rates have also been reduced, if necessary to comply millage to be levied. See STC Bulletin 2 of 2022 for
with MCL Sections 211.24e, 211.34, and for LOCAL school districts which levy a Supplemental (Hold Harmless) Millage, MCL 380.1211(3). instructions on completing this section.

Clerk Signature Print or Type Name Date Total School District Operating Rate
Secretary Rates to be levied (HH/Supp

and NH Oper ONLY)
Chairperson Signature Print or Type Name Date For Principal Residence, 
President Qualified Ag, Qualified Forest

and Industrial Personal.
*Under Truth in Taxation, MCL Section 211.24e, the governing body may decide to levy a rate which will not exceed the maximum authorized For Commercial Personal
rate allowed in column 9.  The requirements of MCL 211.24e must be met prior to levying an operating levy which is larger than the base tax rate
but not larger than the rate in column 9. For All Other
** IMPORTANT:  See instructions on page 2 regarding where to find the millage rate used in column (5).

2022

978,504,485

1.5000

1.0800

96


	0 Agenda
	0 Publ comment_Zoom_Core values
	9.b Board_Committee Appointments
	2023 9-12  Board Appointments Draft
	2023 9-12 Committee Appointments Draft

	9.c.d ORD for Wireless Telecommunication Facilities & Small Cell Wireless 5g
	9.e KL Ave Share Use Path OCBA Contract
	9.f KL Ave Share Use Path OCBA Contract
	2023.08.31 OTKL Ph2 Proposal.pdf
	$  41,000.00


	NONDISCRIMINATION BIDDING POLICY 2017

	11. Recommendation & Draft Ord re Solar Energy Systems
	12. Recommendation & Draft Ord Amendments re 2.20, 42.30, & 50.30
	13. Request for New HRM Platform
	Memo to Board Regarding Request for New HRM Platform.pdf
	Oshtemo Proposal 8.16.23.pdf
	Tesseon Proposal- Oshtemo Township.pdf

	14. Agent Authorization 9th St NM
	mem 2023-09-26 Agent Authroizaend 9th St Non-Motorized (002) 1

	15. Res of Intent to Establish Fire & Safety SAD
	16. Budget Amendments
	17. 2022 L-4029  Not Signed



